IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

Retrospective Theses and Dissertations

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

1987

Ambiguity tolerance and intuition in the management styles of selected Iowa school administrators

William Patrick Durow Iowa State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd



Part of the Educational Administration and Supervision Commons

Recommended Citation

Durow, William Patrick, "Ambiguity tolerance and intuition in the management styles of selected Iowa school administrators" (1987). Retrospective Theses and Dissertations. 8529.

https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/rtd/8529

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Retrospective Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digirep@iastate.edu.



INFORMATION TO USERS

While the most advanced technology has been used to photograph and reproduce this manuscript, the quality of the reproduction is heavily dependent upon the quality of the material submitted. For example:

- Manuscript pages may have indistinct print. In such cases, the best available copy has been filmed.
- Manuscripts may not always be complete. In such cases, a note will indicate that it is not possible to obtain missing pages.
- Copyrighted material may have been removed from the manuscript. In such cases, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, and charts) are photographed by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps. Each oversize page is also filmed as one exposure and is available, for an additional charge, as a standard 35mm slide or as a 17"x 23" black and white photographic print.

Most photographs reproduce acceptably on positive microfilm or microfiche but lack the clarity on xerographic copies made from the microfilm. For an additional charge, 35mm slides of 6"x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations that cannot be reproduced satisfactorily by xerography.

	~	

Order Number 8716759

Ambiguity tolerance and intuition in the management styles of selected Iowa school administrators

Durow, William Patrick, Ph.D.

Iowa State University, 1987



PLEASE NOTE:

In all cases this material has been filmed in the best possible way from the available copy. Problems encountered with this document have been identified here with a check mark $\sqrt{}$.

1.	Glossy photographs or pages				
2.	Colored illustrations, paper or print				
3.	Photographs with dark background				
4.	Illustrations are poor copy				
5.	Pages with black marks, not original copy				
6.	Print shows through as there is text on both sides of page				
7.	Indistinct, broken or small print on several pages				
8.	Print exceeds margin requirements				
9.	Tightly bound copy with print lost in spine				
10.	Computer printout pages with indistinct print				
11.	Page(s) lacking when material received, and not available from school or author.				
12.	Page(s) seem to be missing in numbering only as text follows.				
13.	Two pages numbered Text follows.				
14.	Curling and wrinkled pages				
15.	Dissertation contains pages with print at a slant, filmed as received				
16.	Other				

University
Microfilms
International

· · · - · · - · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		

Ambiguity tolerance and intuition in the management styles of selected Iowa school administrators

bу

William Patrick Durow

A Dissertation Submitted to the

Graduate Faculty in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department: Professional Studies in Education
Major: Education (Educational Administration)

Approved:

Signature was redacted for privacy.

In Charge of Major Nork

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For the Major Department

Signature was redacted for privacy.

For the Graduate College

Iowa State University Ames, Iowa

1987

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION	1
The Problem	1
Need for the Study	2
Similar Recent Research	2
Definitions	4
Assumptions	6
Sources of Data	7
Delimitations	7
Organization of the Study	8
CHAPTER II. A REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE	9
Leadership	9
Definitions of leadership Conditions in which leadership has developed Leadership behaviors and activities Qualities of the effective leader Leadership style The modern leader	10 10 11 11 12 13
Studies of Superintendent Effectiveness	13
Iowa State University Studies of Effective Superintendents	14
Uncertainty	15
Ambiguity Tolerance	17
Ambiguity Tolerance, Job Satisfaction, and Career Mobility	20
Intuition	21
Definitions of intuition Brain hemisphericity	21 22

	Page
Right brain, left brain conflict Properties of intuition Ideal conditions	23 24 24
Errors in use of intuition	25
Teaching and developing intuition	25
Intuitive Management	26
Intuition in the present and future	27
Summary	28
CHAPTER III. METHODS AND PROCEDURES	30
Selection of the Sample	30
The Pilot Study	31
Development of the Measurement Instruments	32
Methods of Data Collection	35
Hypotheses Tested	35
Data Treatment and Analysis	36
Career/Demographics Page The questionnaire Summary	37 39 40
CHAPTER IV. FINDINGS	41
Profile of the Respondents	41
Career/demographic data Job satisfaction	41 47
Hypothesis Number One	49
Hypothesis Number Two	50
Summary	57
CHAPTER V. SUMMARY, DISCUSSION, AND RECOMMENDATIONS	58
Summary and Discussion	58

•	Page
Demographic data Hypothesis Number One Hypothesis Number Two	58 60 61
Limitations	62
Recommendations for Further Study	63
Concluding Statement	64
BIBLIOGRAPHY	66
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	72
APPENDIX A. PILOT STUDY QUESTIONNAIRE	73
APPENDIX B. PILOT STUDY RESULTS	75
APPENDIX C. CAREER/DEMOGRAPHICS PAGE	77
APPENDIX D. QUESTIONNAIRE: QUALITIES OF IOWA SCHOOL SUPERINTENDENTS	79
APPENDIX E. COVER LETTER	84
APPENDIX F. FIRST FOLLOW-UP LETTER	86
APPENDIX G. SECOND FOLLOW-UP LETTER	88

LIST OF TABLES

			Page
Table	1.	Distribution of average years of experience in current district of all Iowa superintendents in 1985-86 classified by size of district	38
Table	2.	Distribution of Iowa superintendents with six years or less experience in their current district during the 1985-86 school year categorized by district size	38
Table	3.	Distribution of "exemplary" and "other" respondents by current district student enrollment	43
Table	4.	Distribution by "exemplary" and "other" respondents by number of years employed in current district	44
Table	5.	Summary of the responses to a Career/Demographics Page by a sample of superintendents labeled "exemplary"	45
Table	6.	Summary of the responses to a Career/Demographics Page by a sample of superintendents labeled "other"	46
Table	7.	Summary of mean responses to two questionnaire items concerning job satisfaction by two samples of superintendents	48
Table	8.	Tests for significant differences between the mean ambiguity tolerance scores of two samples of superintendents	51
Table	9.	Distribution of right brain, left brain, and integrated brain responses by two samples of superintendents; mean scores; estimates of variance; and t-statistics	53
Table	10.	Distribution of intuitive and thinking responses by two samples of superintendents; mean scores;	55

CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION

The Problem

Any discussion of excellence in education in the early 1980s includes the concept of leadership. Usually the discussion of the effective school leader is directed toward a district's administrators such as principals, directors, assistants to the superintendent, and the superintendent himself/herself.

Tradition and common practice continue to find the administrator termed "superintendent" designated as the chief administrator of each of Iowa's school districts. The superintendent's role in achieving educational excellence is crucial: s/he not only advises the board of education in the establishment of district policy but also coordinates the hiring and supervision of principals, who are the agents of educational effectiveness in individual school buildings.

Leadership, as it applies to the superintendent, is a concept of many facets. Sergiovanni defined it as the efficient and effective achievement of objectives (73:330).

Hostetler has reminded us that a significant concern of the leader is ethics, specifically concern for individual persons (38:31).

Sometimes leaders have been described as "mavericks" (57:184). Cuban suggested that conflict is the fuel that feeds the creativity of the leader (16:30).

Given the crucial roles the superintendent must play, an identification of the qualities possessed by those superintendents seen as exemplary by their peers is worthy of study. But this identification

process is no simple task. Engel has written that we really don't know the characteristics of an effective administrator. He suggested that the real exemplary superintendent might do it "with blue smoke and mirrors" (22:39).

Heller stated that the critical characteristic is "the ability to sense potential problems" (33:19). Writing in another journal,

Sergiovanni contended that excellence is multi-dimensional, holistic

(72:4).

Need for the Study

Given the consistent association of effective administrators with effective schools in the research, a study of some of the qualities possessed by "exemplary" superintendents compared with other superintendents seemed worthy of study. The problem approached in this study was further identification of those qualities. The specific qualities to be examined were ambiguity tolerance, the ability to use intuition in making decisions, career mobility, and job satisfaction. Given the crucial roles the superintendent is expected to play and the lack of conclusive data on "exemplary" superintendents, this study was designed to add clarity.

Similar Recent Research

Three recent doctoral studies at Iowa State University have focused on the "exemplary" superintendent. A doctoral dissertation by Clark Stevens (76) at Iowa State sought information on two dimensions of leadership behavior of "successful" superintendents of districts with

"non-successful" sample. The limited scope of the sample studied, however, prevented Stevens from generalizing beyond the scope of the sample and suggested a need for a study of superintendents of districts more similar in size to those in Iowa.

A study by David Haggard (31) sought information on the decision-making behavior of "exemplary" superintendents compared with a randomly selected group. Haggard urged subsequent researchers to seek further indicators for identifying superintendents with exemplary potential.

A 1986 Iowa State researcher, Larry Erion, studied the leadership behavior of 60 Iowa superintendents, 30 of whom were peer-selected as exemplary and another 30 who were randomly selected. Dr. Erion found statistically significant differences between the two groups in the leadership skills of written communication and personal motivation. He urged further study into the reputational survey (peer-selection) process and recommended that his study be replicated with different untested dimensions of management skills which may be integral to the leadership of effective superintendents (24:62,67-68).

These studies triggered the interest of this researcher. The specific questions to be addressed in this study were these: (1) is tolerance for ambiguity a quality more likely to be found in a sample of "exemplary" superintendents than a sample of "other" superintendents; and (2) is a sample of "exemplary" superintendents more likely to use an

intuitive decision-making approach than a sample of "other" superintendents?

In addition, related questions concerning self-expressions of job satisfaction and demographics of career mobility were to be investigated.

The writer intended to measure the degree to which tolerance for ambiguity and an intuitive management style were qualities that distinguish "exemplary" superintendents from those viewed as less effective by peers. Successful completion of this study was intended to serve the purpose of more accurately predicting the aptitude of prospective superintendents, suggesting components of preparation programs for superintendents, and outlining needed competencies to be attained before a person is granted certification as a superintendent.

Definitions

The following operational definitions were utilized in this study:

Superintendent: The chief administrator of a local school district, chosen by a local board of education to be the executive officer of the board.

"Exemplary" superintendents: A pool of 30 Iowa superintendents chosen by their peers from among the superintendents in the 15 Iowa Area Education Agencies by means of a reputational survey. The two superintendents in each area having the highest peer ranking were designated as "exemplary."

"Other" superintendents: A pool of 30 superintendents, also ranked by their peers in each Area Education Agency area by means of the same

reputational survey. The two superintendents in each area accumulating the lowest number of votes from colleagues were designated as "other."

Career mobility: Includes the concepts of "position responsibility, size-of-system responsibility, and frequency of position change." An upwardly mobile administrator is characterized by these types of changes in "position responsibility": (1) on the building level, moving from a position of assistant or associate administrator to head administrator; (2) moving from a building administrative position to a central office position; or (3) moving from a position of central office assistant or director to superintendent.

In terms of "size-of-system responsibility," the upwardly mobile administrator would maintain a 150 percent or greater student/staff responsibility if s/he did not change position responsibility; for example, a superintendent in a district of 2,000 students and 150 staff members would maintain size responsibility if s/he moved to a district of at least 3,000 students and 225 staff.

Regarding frequency, the upwardly mobile administrator would have made at least one move each six years as an administrator, having held at least three administrative positions in his/her career to date.

Considering position and size-of-system responsibility, this writer suggests that each move should be characterized by either increased position responsibility or size-of-system responsibility to be considered a move of upward mobility as defined in this study.

<u>Job satisfaction</u>: Defined in this study in terms of responses made to items 39 and 47 of the instrument (see Appendix A). A high level of

agreement expressed with these two items by the participants was assumed to accurately indicate a high degree of job satisfaction.

Intuitive management: Analyzed through items 1-27 on the questionnaire, an index of each participant's intuitive management style was identified. The terms <u>intuition</u>, <u>intuitive management</u>, and <u>integrated</u> management style are defined conceptually in Chapters II and III.

Ambiguity tolerance: Analyzed by means of responses to items 28-47 on the questionnaire, an index of ambiguity tolerance was identified for each participant. Conceptual definitions for ambiguity tolerance are discussed in Chapter II.

Assumptions

Based on a review of the related literature and the results of a pilot study, this writer has assumed that the aspects of ambiguity tolerance, the use of intuitive or integrated brain management style, and self-expressions of job satisfaction and career mobility in school superintendents were worthy of study as each might pertain to management styles and relative administrative effectiveness. It was likewise assumed that each of these characteristics could be isolated and measured accurately by the instruments chosen. The researcher has assumed that the respondents' self-expressions of job satisfaction and career mobility were accurate. An assumption was made that a clear determination of the brain management style could be obtained for each participant, and that the sample used was representative of the population of Iowa school superintendents.

Sources of Data

The data in the study were gathered through the use of two instruments. The first instrument, the "Career/Demographics Page," instructed each participant to describe each position held during this superintendent's career as a school administrator. The purpose of using this instrument was to gather data to be used in making a determination of the career mobility of each superintendent in the sample.

The second instrument was an amalgam of two parts. Part one, the first 27 questions, was a scale developed by Dr. Weston Agor of the University of Texas at El Paso termed the "TYMS," Test Your Management Style, instrument. A total of 15 of these questions were selected from the Mobius Psi-Ql Test. The other 12 of the TYMS items consisted of statements from the Myers-Briggs Type Indicator, a psychological instrument that measures an individual's ability to use intuition, contrasted with thinking, among other qualities, in making decisions.

Part two of this questionnaire also represented a blended scale. A total of 18 items (items numbered 28-38, 40-46) were chosen from the Rydell-Rosen Ambiguity Tolerance Scale and the Budner Scale of Tolerance-Intolerance of Ambiguity (41:411).

Delimitations

The subjects for the study were 60 Iowa public school superintendents who held their positions during the 1985-86 school year. They were selected during the 1984-85 school year by their peers on the basis of overall administrative effectiveness. Unknown to the participants, the two superintendents in each of the 15 Iowa Area Education Agency areas

selected most frequently by peers were designated as "exemplary," and the two superintendents selected least frequently were designated as "other" for use in this study. All names remained strictly confidential.

Organization of the Study

The study was organized into five chapters. Chapter I, the introduction, presented a statement of the problem, discussed the need for the study, defined terms used in the study, stated hypotheses, listed assumptions, mentioned the sources of the data, noted delimitations, and summarized the organization of the study. Chapter II presented a review of the related literature concerning the need for the study and the variables examined. Chapter III described the research design, the testing of hypotheses, the sample population studied, the means of data collection, and the procedures utilized for statistical analysis. Chapter IV described the findings from an analysis of the data. The final chapter, Chapter V, presented a summary and discussion of the findings and made recommendations for further study.

CHAPTER II. A REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE

Much of the writing in recent management journals, particularly those in education, has focused on the concept of leadership. It is not just the leadership of school officials that is under scrutiny, however. The qualities, behaviors, and characteristics of all managers, including those in the private sector, have been studied, analyzed, and measured.

This study chiefly concerned two qualities of leadership in a sample of school superintendents in Iowa: ambiguity tolerance and intuition. Before summarizing the literature regarding these two qualities, a description of the relationship these qualities have to the concept of leadership was undertaken.

Leadership

One reason this study was undertaken was to advance the knowledge about the behavior of effective educational leaders, specifically public school superintendents. Recent management literature has continued to examine the behavior of all leaders, those in the private sector as well as those in the public arena. This literature was found to be extensive. The writer has limited the focus of this summary to a discussion of these concepts: definitions of leadership, conditions in which modern leadership has developed, typical leadership behaviors and activities, qualities of the effective leader, leadership styles, and the approach of the modern effective leader.

Definitions of leadership

Waterman has defined leadership as the ability to coordinate the efforts of others (78:12). Saunders, Phillips, and Johnson defined leaders as those who can synergize other individuals (70:80-82). Effective leadership, they have said, is problem solving. Williams defined leadership as a process, not a personal trait (79:3). "Leadership is a social interaction process" (79:11), he has contended.

In <u>School Administration: Leadership and Interaction</u>, Williams quotes Drucker (20:291) as defining leading as the ability to inspire others, to direct and coordinate their efforts.

In <u>The Situational Leader</u>, Hersey maintained that leadership was any attempt to influence the behavior of another (35:16). "Effective leaders make things happen," he said (35:16).

Conditions in which leadership has developed

Waterman has suggested that the increased specialization in our society has contributed to the problem of complexity in leadership today (78:12). Drucker has stated that, given current attitudes of militancy in school staffs, leadership occurs at upper management levels only through the consent of the staff to be led (20:291). Sudhalter has posited that today's effective leader is not a clone of past management generations but, rather, is an individual and a creative thinker (77:89). We are in the age of what he has termed the "maverick" leader (77:104).

Leadership behaviors and activities

The behaviors of leaders are many and varied. Waterman has said that leadership is decision-making to dispense with crises (78:15). He described a pre-condition to decision-making as ordering, a systematic examination of past events by a leader to make decisions about future events (78:48).

Saunders, Phillips, and Johnson also list decision-making as a major leadership activity (70:83).

Drucker has insisted that the most fundamental activity of leadership is the establishment of good relationships (20:291). Williams has also listed direction, coordination, and participative decision-making as important activities (79:24,41).

Qualities of the effective leader

The tasks performed by a leader have been shown to be a reflection of that leader's qualities of leadership. Williams has written that "alertness and maneuverability accompanied by a sound philosophical orientation are essential ingredients of leadership behavior as the administrator faces challenging tasks related to the solution of group and individual problems" (79:4).

Drucker has said that the effective leader is conscious of time and can anticipate the unexpected (20:291).

Sudhalter has contended that leading others is a learned trait. He has stated further that the effective leader possesses ten qualities; s/he is inspirational, a delegator, perceptive, a good planner and organizer, is able to maintain harmony and equilibrium, assumes responsibility, is a

spokesperson, is able to negotiate effectively, manages crises calmly, and sets realistic goals (77:12). Sudhalter claimed that creative leadership is characterized by enthusiasm for new challenges, which the leader addresses with emerging leadership qualities such as creativity and intuition (77:103), a comment which lends support to the need for a study such as this one to investigate the intuitive abilities of educational leaders.

Leadership style

The term "leadership style" has been defined by Saunders, Phillips, and Johnson as the collection of those qualities that produces the achievement of goals (70:39).

Hersey has defined leadership style as the way the leader appears in the eyes of others (35:27).

According to Williams, the Midwest Administration Center at the University of Chicago has identified three distinct leadership styles: normative, related to concern for the institution; personal, related to the requirements of individuals; and transactional, or responding to the needs of situations (79:9).

Hersey described leadership styles as autocratic (directive, task-oriented), democratic (participative, relationship-oriented), and situational, taking into account both task and relationship factors as well as "follower readiness" (35:6). Most writers on leadership style have commented on the complexity of the leadership task and would agree with Hersey that style is defined through the perception of others.

The modern leader

The modern leader, then, has been described as the person who can focus on situational and personality factors, use his/her status or power effectively, be a person of many qualities, and make positive things happen in an organization through influencing others. According to Hersey, the effective leader understands the behavior of others, can predict future behavior, and is able to direct, change, and control the behavior of others effectively (35:20).

Studies of Superintendent Effectiveness

The top manager, chief decision-maker, and leader of public school districts is the superintendent of schools. Focusing on the complexities faced by superintendents, several writers and researchers have studied leadership qualities and behaviors of superintendents and other top school administrators.

Some organizations and institutions have initiated corresponding studies to pinpoint the skills, qualities, and attitudes of effective administrators. The College of Education at Butler University, for example, is teaching a package of 20 "leadership skills" in its program of preparation for principals. Among those skills was mentioned "coping with challenges such as risk activities or those that are uncomfortable or unfamiliar." Another skill mentioned was "managing conflict and ambiguity" (60:84). A major focal point of this study was to investigate the presence of ambiguity tolerance in two samples of public school superintendents.

McCall has written about one of these research efforts, the NASSP Principals' Assessment Centers. He listed 12 qualities of leadership that are dealt with in this assessment process: judgment, decisiveness, sensitivity, range of interest, personal motivation, educational values, stress tolerance, problem analysis, organizational ability, leadership, and oral and written communication skills (49:33). These 12 qualities were referred to later in this chapter as those researched by Dr. Larry Erion in his 1986 study (24) of a sample of Iowa superintendents.

Iowa State University Studies of Effective Superintendents

Three recent researchers at Iowa State University have studied the leadership behavior of samples of superintendents. A 1973 doctoral dissertation by Clark Stevens (76) sought information on two dimensions of leadership behavior in successful superintendents of districts with enrollments of 5,000 students or more. The nature of the sample studied, however, suggested a need for a study of superintendents in districts more similar in size to those in Iowa. His results were inconclusive regarding the behaviors studied. Stevens recommended that further study be conducted to determine additional leadership variables.

A 1984 study by Dr. David Haggard (31) sought information on the decision-making and thinking style processes utilized by a group of "exemplary" superintendents compared with a randomly selected group. The "exemplary" group was peer-selected by means of a reputational survey. Haggard was able to obtain no firm conclusions and urged subsequent

researchers to seek further indicators for identifying superintendents with exemplary potential.

A 1986 study by Dr. Larry Erion (24) focused on 12 qualities of leadership behavior in a sample of 60 Iowa public school superintendents, 30 of whom were peer-selected as "exemplary" and another 30 who were randomly selected. Dr. Erion found statistically significant differences between the two groups in the skill areas of written communication and personal motivation. He recommended further study into the reputational survey (peer-selection) process and recommended that the study be replicated with different, untested dimensions of management skill which may be integral to the leadership of effective superintendents (24:62,67-68).

In the preparation of school administrators today, more attention is being given to the effect of unique and unfamiliar situations on the psyche of the administrator, the degree to which individuals are able to manage the accompanying ambiguity, and the relationship of ambiguity management, or tolerance, to the person's job satisfaction and career plans.

Uncertainty

Cunningham has stated that "leadership is very complex, in fact, too complex to understand" (17:17). He explained that change is rampant in our modern society and that "change-saturated environments exact a price of individuals and institutions. Adaptations seldom come easily..."

(17:17).

With so much uncertainty present in a world of change, Cunningham has asked why anyone would want to lead (17:18). Leadership programs, he says, attempt to relate skill development to research on leadership.

Defining uncertainty as "partial belief, the inability to give answers with complete certainty" (10:5), Beyth-Marom and Dekel have stated that most people live with uncertainty by using intuition (10:xii).

Agnew and Brown have written that managing uncertainty is an unpleasant thought for many executives because, even during good times, there is more than enough uncertainty to go around (2:48).

Describing the process each individual goes through in handling uncertainty, Gahmberg felt the process was one of transforming an "overcomplex situation into one of manageable form with few elements" (30:137).

Decisions must be made, however, even though uncertainty exists.

Martin Lasden has stated that in an age of computer-precise logic, it is
the computer itself which has "engendered conditions under which intuitive
thinking becomes most valuable: conditions such as fast change, turmoil,
and leaps into the unknown" (44:98).

Weston Agor, prolific writer and researcher on intuition and intuitive management, has demonstrated that decisions characterized by uncertainty involve a high degree of risk; require a choice among several plausible options, none of which is clearly supported by available data; or may involve inadequate data or a course of action contrary to that suggested by the data (3:9).

Writing about role conflict and ambiguity, Eisenhauer et al. found that school principals were required to deal with uncertainty caused by the fast-paced, fragmented, and interrupted nature of their typical activities (21:86).

Several writers have spoken of effective means for handling uncertainty. Eisenhauer has suggested that humor and routinization are effective in handling ambiguity and conflict (21:86).

Agnew and Brown have suggested that "the executive brain must draw on its repertoire of intuitions, including 'quick and dirty' rules of thumb, past experience, bits of knowledge and pseudo-knowledge, hunches, escapes, or delays" (2:49). They have stated further that if a manager is unable to transform uncertainty into certainty through rational means, s/he must try to "manufacture" certainty through non-rational (intuitive) or semi-rational (probability-based) systems (2:52). It is noted that these writers have emphasized the prevalence of uncertainty as a condition of today's management arena and have suggested that a sound way to deal with it is through intuition. Be reminded that the goals of this study were to draw conclusions about "exemplary" superintendents and their abilities to use ambiguity tolerance and intuition.

An operational term used consistently throughout this study for uncertainty and complexity was "ambiguity." The ability to manage ambiguity effectively has been referred to as "ambiguity tolerance."

Ambiguity Tolerance

The study of the notion of ambiguity tolerance originated with T. W. Adorno et al. (1), who tried to relate ambiguity

tolerance to an authoritative syndrome, or rigidity. Frenkel-Brunswik referred to intolerance of ambiguity as "rigidity" or "resistance to change" (29:791).

English and English defined ambiguity tolerance as a "willingness to accept a state of affairs capable of alternate outcomes: e.g., feeling comfortable...when faced by a complex social issue in which opposed principles are intermingled. Low ambiguity tolerance is shown by the desire to have everything reduced to black and white" (23:24).

Budner defined intolerance of ambiguity as a "tendency to perceive ambiguous situations as a source of threat and tolerance of ambiguity as an implication that contact with ambiguity is desirable" (14:48). He defined the ambiguous situation as that which cannot be structured or categorized because of insufficient clues. Budner went on to study the ways that persons react to perceived threat and to develop a measurement scale for ambiguity tolerance called the Budner Scale of Tolerance—Intolerance of Ambiguity.

Shavit defined tolerance of ambiguity as "one's openness to complex and inconsistent aspects of given situations" (74:1204).

In a 1978 article, Raphael, Moss, and Cross concluded that there was a need to study issues of intelligence and ambiguity tolerance more closely. They suggested viewing intolerance of ambiguity as an intervening variable reflecting coping skills more frequently than intelligence (66:624-26).

Rushlau defined ambiguity tolerance as "the capacity, inferred from observed behavior, to endure and deal with situations and relationships

the structure of which is not clearly defined" (69:1). The purpose of his study was to answer the question of whether ambiguity tolerance was a trait or a pattern of behavior. He found no appreciable relationship between intelligence and ambiguity tolerance in his sample. Rushlau concluded that ambiguity tolerance was a trait for his controlled sample.

Melvin sought to "examine the relationship between risk-taking and leadership behavior" (51:12). He posited that the ability to accept ambiguity was a mediating factor. Based on his knowledge of the work of Frenkel-Brunswik, Melvin hypothesized that those less tolerant of ambiguity would be more prone to an authoritarian style of leadership. He concluded that there was no significant relationship between the interaction of risk-taking/ambiguity tolerance and the two leadership styles studied. He suggested that further study should consider whether risk-taking orientation was relevant to career choice.

Two researchers have studied the reliability of the prominent scales used to measure ambiguity tolerance/intolerance. MacDonald (47) traced the history of various scales devised to measure ambiguity tolerance and determined that a 20-item Rydell-Rosen Ambiguity Tolerance Scale was quite reliable in reflecting the presence of high ambiguity tolerance in subjects.

Kirton (41) contended that data collection techniques for measuring ambiguity tolerance have not been psychometrically sound. The conflict, as he saw it, was in a scale that measured ambiguity as a desirable state and ambiguity tolerance as an ability to reduce the ambiguity. His

conclusion was that the most valid and reliable measure was a scale composed of elements from the Rydell-Rosen and Budner Scales (41:411).

Ambiguity Tolerance, Job Satisfaction, and Career Mobility

The work of Robert Presthus brought together the concepts of ambiguity tolerance, job satisfaction, and promotional preference (career mobility in the terminology of this study) through what he termed "accommodation theory" (65:49-50). This theory seeks "to predict the influence of job satisfaction and ambiguity tolerance on...upward mobility."

Harlow studied engineers at the University of South Florida to test the accommodation theory on "professional" employees. Her results showed that those engineers most tolerant of ambiguous situations were those who most preferred upward mobility (32:139). Her study also supported Presthus' claims in that she also found engineers having a high degree of job satisfaction to be the most desirous of advancement (32:140).

In a follow-up study to Harlow's work, O'Reilly, Bretton, and Roberts found that engineers who were also managers did not express any significant relationship between upward mobility and ambiguity tolerance. These writers did find results similar to those Harlow found in that the engineers expressing high job satisfaction also expressed high preference for promotion (62:143).

Intuition

My head tells me he's stone-cold insane. My gut tells me to go with him on this (Don Johnson's character, Sonny Crockett, in the popular television series. Miami Vice).

Referred to consistently as one of the best means to manage ambiguity is the use of intuition. Researchers who have studied successful private and public sector managers consistently identify the use of an intuitive approach as one characteristic of successful executives.

Faced with complexity, insufficient time to gather necessary data, and fast-paced change, intuition becomes a valuable decision-making tool, albeit one that is accompanied by risk (44:100). In fact, reported Agor, many top executives use intuition to help make their most important decisions, often in situations characterized by rapid change and crisis events (3:6).

Definitions of intuition

"A feeling in my bones; a hunch." These are some of the phrases from folklore used to define intuition. More carefully phrased definitions are many.

Intuition is a sensation, an inner feeling that guides us and shows us how to act, Beyth-Marom has said. She defined it as "a personal thinking tool that we use without asking how it really functions.

Intuition comes from life's experiences..." (10:xii).

Bastick has defined intuition as "the flashes that illuminate our logical slogging and leave a glowing satisfaction of true meaning" (9:1). Intuition produces educated guesses, guesstimates, when decisions need to

be made more speedily than data definition and logical analysis will allow, Bastick has contended.

Agor has quoted Carl Jung as defining intuition as one of the four basic psychological functions along with thinking, feeling, and sensation (7:49).

Lasden has mentioned the phrases, "a process of quick rationalization, pre-cognition, and extra-sensory perception" (44:100) to define intuition.

Intuition has also been defined as another way of knowing, as non-verbal perception and cognition (39:74). It has been called a way of recognizing the possibilities in any situation (3:6).

Folklore definition has intuition described as mysterious and sometimes as a feminine trait, which has tended to make masculine, logical managers less apt to use it (3:6).

William C. McGinnis, city manager of Crescent City, California, has offered the following humorous definition of intuition:

I believe that good intuitive decisions are directly proportional to one's years of challenging experience, plus the number of related and worthwhile years of training and education, all divided by lack of confidence or the fear of being replaced (50:8).

Brain hemisphericity

Many of those attempting to explain or define intuition have done so in terms of the findings of researchers who have studied the hemispheres of the brain. Agor has stated that the right side of the brain sees broad possibilities, is insightful, and forms general ideas. The left side, he

says, sees facts and is very practical. According to Agor, the person who uses an integrated brain style has a vision of the future and is responsive to practicalities (5:23).

Lasden has written that linear thinking is a left brain activity, emotion and intuition having origins in the brain's right side (44:100).

Most writers claim that the integrated style is best. Robert Denhardt of the University of Kansas has stated:

It may be that a humanistic theory of organization and a humanistic orientation to administrative behavior require a balancing of the rational and the intuitive (19:250).

McGinnis has theorized that of the six keys he defines as vital to strategic planning, three are systematically oriented (left brain): intelligence, organizational balance, and analysis. Three others, innovation, proactivity, and risk-taking, are intuitively-oriented activities (50:48-49). He has stated that the relationship between the two sets of keys must be an interactive one to develop appropriate strategies.

Right brain, left brain conflict

Bastick has stated that intuition is basic to the educational process but is neglected by teachers who insist on reason (9:10).

Thomas Isaack has reported that Chester Barnard, noted management scholar, insisted that logical reasoning be balanced with intuition; in fact, he claimed intuition to be primary to logical thought (39:75).

Isaack defined the left hemisphere as the "intellect" and the right half

as "intuition," which processes information in a simultaneous rather than linear fashion.

Properties of intuition

Many are the properties described as elements of the intuitive process. Bastick listed these ten: quick and immediate; emotional involvement; pre-conscious processing; contrast with abstract reasoning, logical, analytical thought; influenced by experience; understanding through feeling, emotive not tactile; associated with creativity; associated with egocentricity; not 100 percent correct; and a global knowledge approach (9:25).

Sprecher listed a property of intuition as a subconscious "program" transmitted from one generation to the next, sometimes thought of as mysterious, feminine (75:18).

Ideal conditions

Intuition is best exercised in ideal conditions, Agor has stated. He lists those as a high level of uncertainty, little previous precedent to guide action, variables that are not scientifically predictable, limited facts, facts that fail to clearly establish direction for action, several plausible alternative solutions (with good arguments for each), and limited time combined with pressure to come up with the "right" decision (3:9). Agor has also specified a number of relaxation techniques and mental exercises designed to activate better intuition for decision-making (3:13).

On the contrary, the ability to perform intuitively is said to be limited by several sets of circumstances. Feinberg et al. has said that intuition cannot be influenced by wishful thinking, selective perception, mental rigidity, or judgments based on personal inclination (25:16).

Intuition cannot identify the specific facts with which it associates. Another obstacle to understanding intuition, stated Isaack, is that repeat demonstrations cannot be performed to meet scientific standards (39:75).

Errors in use of intuition

Errors in the use of intuition, Agor has stated, seem more apt to be caused by failing to follow intuition. Other common errors, he has stated, are caused by failure to be honest, to remain unattached, to react to time pressures, or to act without being relaxed or confident (3:10-11).

Teaching and developing intuition

To develop intuitive skills, Agor has advised belief, practice, and an environment supportive of intuitive skills (7:49). The teaching of intuitive managerial skills has reached business schools of the highest reputation, such as Stanford and the Sloan School of Management at M.I.T. (44:104).

Isaack has suggested that conscious attention be given to exercise of intuition in management programs (39:74). He claims that exercises such as analogy, reversal thinking, random word stimulation, exposure to the irrelevant, and exercises with opposites and contradictions promote intuitive thinking (39:75-77).

Agor has stated that the development of intuitive skills requires a support group (3:15) because of the bias western culture carries for intellect and against intuition.

Intuitive Management

In what circumstances, then, do managers use intuitive skills? Agor has defined intuitive management as the ability to make management decisions successfully on the basis of feelings. In his research with over 2,000 managers in business, education, government, the military, and health professions, Agor found that top managers in each field rated higher than middle— and low-level managers in use of intuition to make decisions. He also concluded that managers who use higher levels of intuition are likely to be effective in personnel, crisis management, and public affairs or public relations (7:49,52). Agor has said that right brain, intuitive managers consider feelings before facts and favor inductive reasoning. He liked the integrated style in which right brain and left brain styles are used interchangeably as a situation demanded.

Describing a series of experiments with chief executive officers in the late 1960s at the New Jersey Institute of Technology, Lasden stated that 80 percent scored above the levels allowed by chance on pre-cognitive and intuitive powers (44:100).

Agreeing with Agor, Lasden claimed intuition to be particularly effective in hiring (44:101). He quoted Bill Synnott of the First National Bank of Boston as saying: "Intuition is always more valuable in managing people than in dealing with things" (44:101).

Michael McGinnis has quoted Henry Mintzberg as arguing that truly outstanding managers are those who can combine intuition and analysis (50:45). McGinnis goes on to state that American managers have good analytical techniques but have failed to integrate these well with intuitive skills such as risk-taking, management of innovation, and communication (50:50).

Intuition in the present and future

In some measure of disagreement, Agor has stated that managers are significantly more comfortable using intuition than they were ten years ago. He claimed the difference is due to a climate characterized by rapid change and crisis events (3:5).

Cunningham has also suggested that leaders of the future face the problems of needing to focus on the present and future simultaneously. He points to intuition, saying "from this point forward, leaders may have to start trusting their intuition, which could prove to be an extremely valuable decision-making tool" (17:20).

Speaking further of the power of intuition, Roberds-Baxter has stated that:

Intuitives tend to be visionaries, focusing on what might be possible. They are most content with problems that require new designs and different solutions. Intuitives do their best work when they are conceptualizing new ways and working with abstractions. To intuitives, synonyms for intelligence are flashes of creativity and the ability to grasp complexities (68:9).

Summary

Chapter II, the review of related literature, discussed theories of leadership, studies of superintendent effectiveness, uncertainty and ambiguity, ambiguity tolerance, and intuition. Citations were made to relate past research to the need for a study of ambiguity tolerance and intuition in "exemplary" public school superintendents.

Definitions of leadership were listed. Conditions in the modern time, the "Age of Information," were shown to have impacted the behavior of modern leaders, the qualities they possess, and the leadership styles that characterize the effective leader. The shift in leadership style from an autocratic mode to a more participative one was noted in successful managers.

Several studies concerning the effectiveness of school administrators were reviewed. It was noted that educational institutions and professional associations have tried to identify the skills and qualities of effective educational leaders. Three recent Iowa State University studies of "exemplary" superintendents were cited to show the difficulty in clearly establishing the qualities of the "exemplary" superintendent. One study did identify personal motivation and written communication skill as qualities more likely to be present in the "exemplary" superintendent than in a control group superintendent.

The relationship of those recent studies of "exemplary" superintendents to the present study was clarified through developing the need to investigate other qualities, ambiguity tolerance and intuition, in the "exemplary" superintendent.

The writer reviewed literature related to the hypotheses of this study: uncertainty and ambiguity, ambiguity tolerance, and intuition. Extensive review of the literature concerning intuition included definitions, brain hemisphericity, properties of intuition, ideal conditions for the exercise of intuitive powers, the potential for error in the use of intuition, development and teaching of intuition, and use of intuition by public and private sector managers.

CHAPTER III. METHODS AND PROCEDURES

The purpose of this study was to determine if tolerance for ambiguity and a management style that utilizes intuition were more characteristic of a group of peer-selected "exemplary" superintendents than a group of "other" superintendents who ranked at the low end of a peer-selected ranking based on overall performance. A secondary purpose was to measure any demographic relationships between the two groups in terms of the responses individuals made concerning their own job satisfaction and career mobility.

This chapter describes the selection of the sample; development of the measurement instruments, including the pilot study; the methods of data collection; the hypotheses to be tested; and the methods chosen for the treatment and analysis of the data.

Selection of the Sample

Two sample groups were drawn from the population of public school superintendents in Iowa. A pool of "exemplary" superintendents was identified through the use of a reputational survey that was administered to all the superintendents in each of the state's 15 Area Education Agency areas.

Researcher Larry Erion requested superintendents in each area to name the two superintendents from that area who were "exemplary" when considering the overall performance of each individual in the categories of personnel, curriculum, collective bargaining, and planning. The

superintendents in Dr. Erion's sample held their positions during the 1984-85 school year.

This researcher used the same list of "exemplary" superintendents as those identified by Dr. Erion. Where an identified "exemplary" superintendent no longer held a position in the area that selected him/her, the next highest vote-getter was moved up on the list to become one of the two "exemplaries" from that area. The process used by Dr. Erion and adopted by this researcher was similar to that used by Iowa State researcher Haggard as well.

In contrast to the randomly selected group of "other" superintendents used in the Haggard and Erion studies, this researcher selected the other group from those superintendents receiving the lowest vote totals. This procedure was used to attempt to distinguish between "exemplary" and "other" superintendents. In the Haggard and Erion studies, members of the "other" sample could have ranked nearly as high in the peer selection as some members of the "exemplary" sample. Two were selected from each area for a total of 30. When ties in vote totals were present, the two lowest vote-getters were determined by selecting from those tied in alphabetical order.

The Pilot Study

In development of the data gathering instrument and the hypotheses tested in this study, a pilot study (see Appendix A) was conducted during the spring of 1984. With the help of Dr. Ross Engel, this researcher's major professor and the supervisor of the studies conducted by Haggard, Stevens, and Erion, a sub-sample of 23 Iowa public school superintendents

was identified. Based on the peer-rating used in the Haggard study, this group was divided into a group of 11 "exemplary" superintendents and 12 "other" superintendents.

They were asked to complete an instrument composed of the 18 items on ambiguity tolerance Kirton suggested, the two questions dealing with job satisfaction, and one question concerning career mobility.

All 23 superintendents completed and returned the pilot instrument. Responses significant at the .05 level of confidence were obtained on six of the 18 items dealing with ambiguity tolerance, when the two samples were compared (see Appendix B). In five of the six instances, the "exemplary" sample showed numerically higher responses, and on one item the expected responses were reversed, with the "other" sample showing a higher numerical response.

As a result of the pilot study, the decision was made to proceed; the question dealing with career mobility was replaced by the Career/Demographics Page; and the hypotheses were written in final form.

Development of the Measurement Instruments

Two instruments were used to collect the data for analysis in this study. One, a Career/Demographics Page (see Appendix C), developed by this researcher, requested information concerning all current and previous administrative positions held. The instrument requested position titles, number of years each position was held, and numbers of students and staff supervised.

The second instrument (see Appendix D), one of 47 items, was an amalgam of several parts. Part one, the first 27 questions, was a scale

developed by Dr. Weston Agor of the University of Texas at El Paso, termed the "TYMS," Test Your Management Style, instrument. The first 15 of these 27 questions Agor selected from the Mobius Psi-Ql test. These items allowed managers to express the brain dominant style they actually used on the job to make decisions. This test was designed to measure "para-normal abilities, pre-cognition, and intuition springing from the right hemisphere" (71:160-61). The validity and reliability of the Mobius Psi-Ql was established through national administrations to over 15,000 Omni Magazine readers in 1981-82, with total correct responses received from enough participants to exceed the "chance" figure (71:160-61), but only at an .0625 level of statistical significance.

The final 12 TYMS items consisted of statements Agor selected from the Myers-Briggs Type Indicator, a psychological instrument that measures the ability to use intuition, contrasted with straight cognition, in making decisions. Reviewing the MBTI in the Mental Measurements Yearbook (15:974-75), Coan (in (15)) has stated that the correlations between the pairs of scales tested are all necessarily close to -1.00. He reported:

There is now a substantial body of empirical data gathered on the use of the MBTI. It would be fair to say that the group differences and correlations are broadly supportive of the construct validity of the scales (15:974-75).

Agor himself has administered the 27-item TYMS to over 2,000 executives in business, government, education, the military, and health fields. He discussed his testing procedures extensively in <u>Intuitive</u>

Management (6:21-25). Agor's studies showed that the top managers in every type of organization scored higher in their ability to use intuition

than managers lower in rank. Agor reported results to be obtained at the .05 level of statistical significance (3:7).

Items 1 through 27 instructed participants to choose a response from either two or three alternatives.

Part two of this questionnaire also represented a blended scale. A total of 18 items, those numbered 28 to 38 and 40 to 46, were selected by Kirton from the Rydell-Rosen Ambiguity Tolerance Scale (41:411) and the Budner Scale of Tolerance-Intolerance of Ambiguity (41:411). After study, Kirton reduced the total of 36 items to 18. He reported internal reliability with his main sample of 286 to be .86, and similar results with a replication sample of 276.

Two other items completed the instrument. Items 39 and 47 were used to obtain a self-estimate of degree of job satisfaction.

All of the last 20 items in the instrument utilized a Likert scale response design with these elements:

- 7 strongly agree
- 6 moderately agree
- 5 slightly agree
- 3 slightly disagree
- 2 moderately disagree
- 1 strongly disagree.

The number 4 choice, originally intended to correspond with a response of "undecided," was not used in order to force respondents to select a level of agreement or disagreement with each item.

Methods of Data Collection

Data in this study were collected by means of correspondence mailed to the 60 participants in mid-March, 1986. Each packet contained a cover letter (see Appendix E), the Career/Demographics Page, the 47-item questionnaire, and a stamped envelope for return. Identification numbers were used to identify members of each group and to account for returns.

The participants were very cooperative in completing the instruments. A total of 49 responses were received by April 12, 1986. At that point, a first follow-up letter (see Appendix F) and an additional packet of materials were mailed to the 11 non-respondents. A total of five additional responses were received by April 23, 1986.

A second follow-up mailing (see Appendix G) was made to the six non-respondents, again requesting their participation and emphasizing the need for complete returns. Four of these six superintendents responded by May 5, and one other completed and returned the instruments June 26, 1986.

The lone remaining non-respondent was contacted by telephone in late June, and his data were received on July 12, 1986, which completed a 100 percent return.

Hypotheses Tested

The hypotheses tested were the following:

Ho: There is no difference in the degree of ambiguity tolerance expressed by the "exemplary" sample of superintendents when compared with the "other" sample. Ho: U1 = U2.

Ho: There is no difference in the frequency of use of an intuitive or integrated brain management style when the "exemplary" sample of superintendents is compared with the "other" sample. Ho: Ul = U2.

The alternative hypotheses tested were these:

Ha: There is a higher degree of ambiguity tolerance expressed by the "exemplary" sample of superintendents than by the "other" sample. Ha: U1 > U2.

Ha: There is more frequent use of intuition and an integrated brain management style by the "exemplary" sample of superintendents than by the "other" sample. Ha: U1 > U2.

Differences in demographic/career data were measured by means of an arithmetic process. No hypotheses were stated concerning these data, and no statistical procedures were employed. It was this researcher's contention, however, that the "exemplary" sample of superintendents would tend to be more upwardly mobile and satisfied in their career choices as school administrators than members of the "other" sample.

Data Treatment and Analysis

Both the Career/Demographics Page and the questionnaire yielded data that were analyzed in this study. The purpose of this section is to describe the types of data generated and the means selected for its analysis.

Career/Demographics Page

The data generated by this instrument were analyzed to determine a relative career mobility status for each participant. In accordance with the operational definition of "career mobility" presented in Chapter I, the data for each participant were analyzed according to these steps.

- 1. The number of changes in administrative positions was determined to answer the question of whether the superintendent had two or more. In order to be considered "upwardly mobile," the answer to this question had to be "yes."
- 2. A determination was then made to see if the changes in position were made on the average of one every six years of the superintendent's career.

The figure of six years was chosen after consultation with David Alvord of the Administrative Services Section of the Iowa Department of Education. Mr. Alvord provided data to the writer that indicated that the average number of years experience in the current district of all Iowa superintendents during the 1985-86 school year was 8.7 years. Table 1 shows a distribution of average years of experience in their current district for all superintendents categorized by size of district.

A change of position once every six years was chosen by the writer because it indicated that a superintendent was changing positions somewhat faster, nearly one-third faster, in fact, than the state average. From the data supplied by Alvord, Table 2 shows the frequency distribution of superintendents with six years or less experience in their current districts in 1985-86.

Table 1. Distribution of average years of experience in current district of all Iowa superintendents in 1985-86 classified by size of district

District size	Average years in district
0 - 249	5.7
250 - 399	7.5
400 - 599	8.9
600 - 999	10.2
1000 - 2499	9.9
2500 - 7499	9.3
7500+	6.0

Table 2. Distribution of Iowa superintendents with six years or less experience in their current district during the 1985-86 school year categorized by district size

District size	Number of superintendents	Percentage of superintendents of this size district
0 - 249	37	72.5
250 - 399	53	58.9
400 - 599	47	50.0
600 - 999	38	39.6
1000 - 2499	30	41.7
2500 - 7499	13	54.2
7500+	5	71.4
All districts (n=438)	223	50.9

Again, the answer to this question had to be "yes" for the superintendent to be considered "upwardly mobile."

3. Each change in administrative position was analyzed to determine if there were changes in position or size-of-system responsibility, as specified in the definition. In order to be considered "upwardly mobile" with respect to these two factors, more than 50 percent of all moves had to have shown the specified increases in either position or size of system responsibility.

In summary, then, the data of the Career/Demographics Page for each respondent were analyzed to determine the number of changes in position, the time frame in which the changes occurred, and changes in position and size-of-system responsibility. Based on the data, each superintendent was labeled "upwardly mobile" or "not upwardly mobile."

The questionnaire

The data generated by the questionnaire were of several types. This section was written to list the types of data generated. Each body of data was statistically analyzed by means of a one-tailed "pooled t" test to determine significant differences between the "exemplary" sample and the "other" sample.

The respondents' self-expressions of job satisfaction were measured by their responses to items 39 and 47. Responses were made to a six-point Likert scale.

Three scores indicative of each respondent's dominant brain style were determined by responses to items 1 through 15. Following Agor's

formula for analyzing these items, right brain, left brain, and integrated brain scores were calculated.

Analysis of items 16 through 27 yielded a score indicating whether each respondent favored an "intuitive" style or a "thinking" style.

Finally, analysis of questions 28 through 38 and 40 through 46 provided a score indicative of tolerance for ambiguity, enabling this researcher to make comparisons between samples on that characteristic.

Analyzing each of these bodies of data by means of a one-tailed "pooled t" test, it was possible to determine those null hypotheses that could be rejected at the .05 confidence level.

Summary

The purpose of this chapter was to describe the research methods and procedures utilized. The chapter described the selection of the sample, the pilot study, the development of the measurement instruments employed, the structure and results of the pilot study, the strategies employed for the collection of data, the null and alternative hypotheses tested, and lastly, the types of data generated and means selected for analysis of that data.

CHAPTER IV. FINDINGS

The purpose of this study was to compare two samples of Iowa public school superintendents to determine if "exemplary" superintendents were more likely to demonstrate higher degrees of the qualities of ambiguity tolerance and intuitive decision-making than a sample of "other" superintendents. After the data were collected, the statistical analyses described in Chapter III were applied. Chapter IV was written to summarize the career/demographic data and to discuss the results of each of the hypotheses.

Profile of the Respondents

The total sample was composed of 60 Iowa public school superintendents. Through a peer-selection process, one-half of the total sample was identified as "exemplary." This sample included two superintendents from each of the state's 15 Area Education Agency areas. The remaining 30 participants, the "other" sample, represented the two superintendents from each area ranking lowest in the peer-selection results. All participants responded to a Career/Demographics Page (see Appendix C) and a 47-item questionnaire (see Appendix D) that was an amalgam of several parts.

Career/demographic data

The first page of the instrument, the Career/Demographics Page, asked each respondent to describe the characteristics of all administrative positions held in the past and present. Each respondent was asked to list the title of each position held, the number of years the position was

held, the number of students supervised, and the number of all staff members supervised.

Table 3 shows a distribution of the respondents according to the student enrollment of each superintendent's current district. All members of the "exemplary" sample were superintendents of districts with student enrollment of at least 600, while only 56.7 percent of the "other" sample administered districts of that size. A total of 43.3 percent of the "other" superintendents administered districts with student enrollments smaller than 600.

Based on a review of related literature, this writer contended that the "exemplary" sample would show a higher degree of upward mobility, as defined in Chapter I, than the "other" sample. It was only to examine this contention that the Career/Demographics Page was used in this study.

Table 4 shows the distribution of the total sample according to the number of years of experience in the current district. The average number of years of such experience was found to be 12.4 years for the "exemplary" sample, 11.3 years for the "other" sample, and 11.9 years for the total sample of 60.

Tables 5 and 6 summarize the findings of the Career/Demographics Page for both samples. The "exemplary" sample averaged 2.83 changes in position over the participants' combined careers. The "other" sample averaged 2.40 changes in position during those participants' careers.

A summary of Tables 5 and 6 showed that the "exemplary" sample included 13 (43.3%) superintendents who were upwardly mobile and 17 (56.7%) who were not upwardly mobile, according to the definition, while

Table 3. Distribution of "exemplary" and "other" respondents by current district student enrollment

		mplaries n=30)	Others (n=30)	
District size	No.	Percent	No.	Percent
0 - 249			4	13.3
250 - 399			4	13.3
400 - 599			5	16.7
600 - 999	7	23.3	8	26.7
1000 - 2499	12	40.0	8	26.7
2500 - 7499	10	33.3	1	3.3
7500 +	1	3.3		
				
Totals	30	99.9	30	100.0

Table 4. Distribution by "exemplary" and "other" respondents by number of years employed in current district

Years in this		emplaries (n=30)		Others (n=30)		al sample (n=60)
district	No.	Percent	No.	Percent	No.	Percent
1			1	3.3	1	1.7
2	1	3.3			1	1.7
3	2	6.7			2	3.3
4	1	3.3	1	3.3	2	3.3
5		3.3			1	1.7
6	1 2 2 3	6.7	3 3,	10.0	5	8.3
7	2	6.7	3,	10.0	5 5 5	8.3
8	3	10.0	2	6.7	5	8.3
9	1	3.3	3	10.0	4	6.7
10	1	3.3	1	3.3	2	3.3
11	2	6.7	2	6.7	4	6.7
12	1	3.3	2	6.7	3 2	5.0
13	1	3.3	1	3.3	2	3.3
14			3	10.0	3	5.0
15	2	6.7	1	3.3	3	5.0
16	2	6.7	2 2	6.7	4	6.7
17			2	6.7	2	3.3
18	2	6.7			2	3.3
19	$\overline{1}$	3.3			1	1.7
20	1	3.3	2	6.7	3	5.0
21	2	6.7			2	3.3
24	1	3.3			1	1.7
26	1	3.3			1	1.7
30	1	3.3			1	1.7
		Exemplar	ies_	Others	Ţ	otal sample
Average yea						
current po		12.43	3	11.27		11.85

Table 5. Summary of the responses to a Career/Demographics Page by a sample of superintendents labeled "exemplary"

No.	Position changes	Two or more?	Defined time frame?	Position responsibility?	Size responsi- bility?	Upwardly mobile?
1	4	yes	noa	2	2	no
2	3	yes	yes	1	2	yes
3	4	yes	noa	1	3	no
4	3	yes	noa	1	1	no
5	1	noa	no	. 1	0	no
6	4	yes	yes	4	1	yes
7	1	noa	no	1	1	no
8	2	yes	yes	2	0	yes
9	6	yes	yes	1	6	yes
10	4	yes	yes	0 a	2 ^a	no
11	3	yes	yes	1	1	yes
12	2	yes	noa	1	0	no
13	1	noa	no	1	0	no
14	2	yes	noa	0	2	no
15	4	yes	yes	1	2	yes
46	3	yes	noa	1	2	no
47	1	noa	no	1	0	no
48	3	yes	yes	1	2	yes
49	4	yes	yes	1	2	yes
50	3	yes	yes	1	1	yes
51	4	yes	noa	0	1	no
52	2	yes	$\mathtt{no}^{\mathbf{a}}$	0	1	no
53	3	yes	yes	1	3	yes
54	4	yes	yes	1	2	yes
55	3	yes	yes	1	2	yes
56	3	yes	noa	1	3	no
5 7	2	yes	yes	0 a	1ª	no
58	1	noa	no	1	1	no
59	2	yes	noa	1	1	no
60	3	yes	yes	1	3	yes
			Summa	ary		
		Mobile		13 43	.3%	
		Not mol	oile	17 56	.7%	

 $^{^{\}mathbf{a}}\mathsf{First}$ factor in the sequence that caused the superintendent to be considered "not mobile."

Table 6. Summary of the responses to a Career/Demographics Page by a sample of superintendents labeled "other"

No.	Position changes	Two or more?	Defined time frame?	Position responsition bility?	Size responsi- bility?	Upwardly mobile?
16	3	yes	yes	1	2	yes
17	3	yes	noa	1	1	no
18	4	yes	noa	1	3	no
19	2	yes	noa	1	1	no
20	3	yes	noa	0	0	no
21	5	yes	yes	2	1	yes
22	2	yes	noa	1	1	no
23	2	yes	noa	1	2	no
24	4	yes	yes	2	1	yes
25	2	yes	noa	1	1	no
26	1	noa	no	1	1	no
27	1	noa	no	1	1	no
28	2	yes	noa	1	1	no
29	1	noa	no	1	1	no
30	2	yes	no^a	1	2	no
31	6	yes	yes	3	2	yes
32	2	yes	yes	1	1	yes
33	4	yes	yes	$0^{\mathbf{a}}$	2 ^a	no
34	2	yes	yes	0	2	yes
35	0	noa	no	0	0	no
36	4	yes	yes	2	2	yes
37	1	noa	no	1	0	no
38	3	yes	noa	1	1	no
39	1	noa	no	0	1	no
40	2	yes	noa	1	1	no
41	3	yes	noa	1	3	no
42	0	noa	no	0	0	no
43	2	yes	noa	0	2	no
44	1	noa	no	1	1	no
45	4	yes	yes	2	1	yes
			Summa	ary		
		Mobile		8 20	5.7%	
		Not mo	bile	22 73	3.3%	

^aFirst factor in the sequence that caused the superintendent to be considered "not mobile."

the "other" sample had 8 (26.7%) superintendents who were upwardly mobile and 22 (73.3%) who were not upwardly mobile.

In summary, then, the findings suggest that the typical "exemplary" superintendent in this study had held more positions and was slightly more upwardly mobile than a representative superintendent from the "other" sample, even though the "exemplary" superintendent had averaged about one more year's experience in the current district. The respondents in the "exemplary" sample all administered districts of 600 students or more, while 43.3 percent of the superintendents in the "other" sample administered districts of fewer than 600 students.

Job satisfaction

In completing the questionnaire, each superintendent responded to two items concerning his/her feelings of job satisfaction. These items were numbered 39 and 47 and were formulated by the writer. To respond to these items, each superintendent indicated a degree of agreement or disagreement using the following Likert-type scale:

- 7 strongly agree
- 6 moderately agree
- 5 slightly agree
- 3 slightly disagree
- 2 moderately disagree
- l strongly disagree.

A summary of these responses is shown in Table 7.

All 60 superintendents responded to both items. The mean response of the "exemplary" superintendent sample was higher (showed a greater degree

Table 7. Summary of mean responses to two questionnaire items concerning job satisfaction by two samples of superintendents

Item no.	Exemplaries (n=30) Mean	Others (n=30) Mean
39	6.067	5.567
47	6.467	6.000
Overall sample	6.0667	5 7022
mean	6.2667	5.7833

of agreement) than the mean of the "other" sample for each item: .500 greater on item number 39 and .467 greater on item number 47. The overall sample mean for both questions was 6.267 for the "exemplary" sample and 5.783 for the "other" sample.

The findings suggest that the typical "exemplary" superintendent in this study was somewhat more satisfied with his/her career choice as a school administrator than the typical superintendent from the "other" sample.

Hypothesis Number One

There is no difference in the degree of ambiguity tolerance expressed by the "exemplary" sample of superintendents when compared with that expressed by the "other" sample (Ho: U1 = U2).

This hypothesis was formulated to determine if the differences in levels of ambiguity tolerance present in "exemplary" leaders and executives, as suggested in the review of literature, were present in two samples of public school superintendents as well.

An ambiguity tolerance score was determined for each respondent through individual responses to 18 items on the questionnaire: items numbered 28 through 38 and 40 through 46. Each respondent was asked to express a degree of agreement or disagreement with each of the 18 statements using the following Likert-type scale:

- 7 strongly agree
- 6 moderately agree
- 5 slightly agree
- 3 slightly disagree
- 2 moderately disagree
- 1 strongly disagree.

Mean scores for the respondents in each sample were calculated and are shown in Table 8. The one-tailed estimate of the variance for ambiguity tolerance scores was examined, and it showed no significant difference in the variance. A "pooled t" test was used to test the null hypothesis against the directional alternative hypothesis (Ha: U1 > U2). The resulting one-tailed t-statistic was found to be .4600.

The null hypothesis was not rejected for this hypothesis because there was not a significant difference in mean scores between the "exemplary" and "other" samples.

Hypothesis Number Two

There is no difference in the preference for use of an integrated or intuitive brain management style when an "exemplary" sample of superintendents is compared with an "other" sample (Ho: U1 = U2).

This hypothesis was formulated to determine differences between the samples in their preference for use of right brain and integrated brain management styles and their preference for using an intuitive approach in making decisions on the job.

A right brain, left brain, and integrated brain score was determined for each individual through responses to items 1 through 15 of the

Table 8. Tests for significant differences between the mean ambiguity tolerance scores of two samples of superintendents

_		Exemplaries	0thers (n=30)
Item no.		Mean	Mean
28		4.500	4.067
29		6.100	6.100
30		4.483	4.033
31		4.867	4.759
32		2.667	2.833
33		4.800	5.172
34		3.900	3.733
35		4.467	3.833
36		4.100	3.800
37		4.933	4.867
38		3.933	3.633
40		2.467	2.300
41		3.800	3.500
42		3.400	3.267
43		3.133	3.276
44		3.667	3.900
45		3.267	3.300
46		4.933	4.400
		Two-tailed	
		estimate of the	One-tailed
Exemplaries	Others	variance	t-statistic
4.0780	3.9310	.8390	.4600

questionnaire, using the formula Agor specified for scoring the TYMS. Individual responses were coded for computer analysis. Table 9 shows the responses of each sample, distributed by type of brain score, to items 1 through 15.

The one-tailed estimate of the variance for integrated brain scores was examined. It was concluded that there was a significant difference in the variance. A "separate t" test was used to test the mean scores. On the basis of the one-tailed t-statistic of .5350, the null hypothesis, as it concerned integrated brain score means, was not able to be rejected.

The one-tailed estimate of the variance for right brain scores was studied, and it was determined that there was a significant difference in the variance. As a result, the "separate t" test was used to test the mean scores. On the basis of the one-tailed t-statistic of .4450, the null hypothesis related to right brain mean scores was not able to be rejected.

An "intuitive" score was calculated based on the response of participants to items 16 through 27. Individual responses were again coded for computer analysis. Table 10 shows the responses of each sample, distributed by intuitive and thinking scores, to each item, 16 through 27.

The one-tailed estimate of the variance for intuitive scores was examined. It was concluded that there was no significant difference in the variance. A "pooled t" test was applied to the mean scores. The one-tailed t-statistic was found to be -.2600.

Table 9. Distribution of right brain, left brain, and integrated brain responses by two samples of superintendents; mean scores; estimates of variance; and t-statistics

		emplaries (n=30)		thers n=30)
Item no.	No.	Percent	No.	Percent
Item 1				
Right	4	13.3	3	10.0
Left	2	6.7	10	33.4
Integrated	24	80.0	17	56.7
Item 2				
Right	5	16.7	4	13.3
Left	11	36.7	13	43.3
Integrated	14	46.7	13	43.3
Item 3				
Right	8	26.7	10	33.3
Left	14	46.7	15	50.0
Integrated	8	26.7	5	16.7
Item 4				
Right	5	16.7	4	13.3
Left	20	66.7	20	66.7
Integrated	5	16.7	6	20.0
Item 5			_	
Right	2	6.7	1	3.3
Left	14	46.7	20	66.7
Integrated	14	46.7	9	30.0
Item 6			_	
Right	0	0.0	1	3.3
Left	4	13.3	12	40.0
Integrated	26	86.7	16	53.3
No response	0	0.0	1	3.3
Item 7	_		_	10.0
Right	5	16.7	3	10.0
Left	13	43.3	19	63.3
Integrated	12	40.0	8	26.7
Item 8	_		-	2.2
Right	0	0.0	0	0.0
Left	18	60.0	16	53.3
Integrated	12	40.0	14	46.7

Table 9. Continued

		Exemplaries (n=30)		0thers (n=30)	
Item no.	No.	Perce	nt No.	Percent	
Item 9					
Right	11	36.7	10	33.3	
Left	7	23.3	5	16.7	
Integrated	12	40.0	15	50.0	
Item 10					
Right	1	3.3	0	0.0	
Left	22	73.3	20	66.7	
Integrated	7	23.3	9	30.0	
No response	0	0.0	1	3.3	
Item 11					
Right	4	13.3	3	10.0	
Left	0	0.0	1	3.3	
Integrated	26	86.7	26	86.7	
Item 12					
Right	2	6.7	2	6.7	
Left	15	50.0	20	66.7	
Integrated	13	43.3	8	26.7	
Item 13					
Right	3	10.0	3	10.0	
Left	6	20.0	10	33.3	
Integrated	21	70.0	17	56.7	
Item 14					
Right	22	73.3	23	76.7	
Left	1	3.3	1	3.3	
Integrated	7	23.3	6	20.0	
Item 15					
Right	12	40.0	14	46.7	
Left	11	36.7	11	36.7	
Integrated	7	23.3	5	16.7	
			Two-tailed		
Preferred	Mean sc	ores	estimate of the	One-tailed	
brain style	Exemplaries	Others	variance	t-statistic	
Integrated	2.6012	2.5047	.0010	.5350	
Right	2.5407	2.4637	.0310	•4450	

Table 10. Distribution of intuitive and thinking responses by two samples of superintendents; mean scores; estimates of variance; and t-statistics

	(mplaries n=30)	Others (n=30)		
Item no.	No.	Percent	No.	Percent	
Item 16					
Intuitive	7	23.3	6	20.0	
Thinking	23	76.7	24	80.0	
Item 17					
Intuitive	10	33.3	14	46.7	
Thinking	20	66.7	16	53.3	
Item 18					
Intuitive	12	40.0	9	30.0	
Thinking	18	60.0	21	70.0	
Item 19					
Intuitive	12	40.0	9	30.0	
Thinking	18	60.0	21	70.0	
Item 20				04.	
Intuitive	10	33.3	11	36.7	
Thinking	20	66.7	19	63.3	
Item 21		40.0	10	/ 2 2	
Intuitive	12	40.0	13	43.3	
Thinking	17	56.7	17	56.7	
No response	1	3.3	0	0.0	
Item 22	_		_		
Intuitive	8	26.7	7	23.3	
Thinking	21	70.0	23	76.7	
No response	1	3.3	0	0.0	
Item 23			•		
Intuitive	23	76.7	20	66.7	
Thinking	6	20.0	10	33.3	
No response	1	3.3	0	0.0	
Item 24	10	62.2	1.6	46.7	
Intuitive	19	63.3	14		
Thinking	10	33.3	16	53.3 0.0	
No response	1	3.3	0	0.0	

Table 10. Continued

	· .	Exemplaries (n=30)	Others (n=30)		
Item no.	No.	Perce	nt No.	Percent	
Item 25		····			
Intuitive	7	23.3	4	13.3	
Thinking	22	73.3	26	86.7	
No response	1	3.3	0	0.0	
Item 26					
Intuitive	4	13.3		13.3	
Thinking	25	83.3	26	86.7	
No response	1	3.3	0	0.0	
Item 27					
Intuitive	8	26.7	8	26.7	
Thinking	21	70.0	22	73.3	
No response	1	3.3	0	0.0	
Decision-			Two-tailed		
making	Mean sc	0700	estimate of the	One-tailed	
style	Exemplaries	Others	variance	t-statistic	
Intuitive	1.6885	1.7246	3340	2600	

The null hypothesis was not rejected for the intuitive mean scores because there was not a statistically significant difference between the "exemplary" and the "other" sample.

Summary

This chapter described the analysis of the demographic data concerning upward mobility, responses to two questions concerning self-expressions of job satisfaction, and the participant responses to the scales devised to measure ambiguity tolerance and use of intuitive processes. After statistical calculations were made, it was shown that the null hypothesis was not able to be rejected concerning ambiguity tolerance. Nor was the null hypothesis concerning right brain, integrated brain, and intuitive decision-making style able to be rejected.

A summary and discussion of the findings, along with limitations and recommendations for further study, are found in the following chapter.

CHAPTER V. SUMMARY, DISCUSSION, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Summary and Discussion

The purpose of the study was to determine if a greater tolerance for ambiguity and a greater reliance on intuition in decision-making were distinguishing characteristics of a sample of "exemplary" public school superintendents. This sample was peer-selected on the basis of overall performance effectiveness and was compared to an "other" sample which was identified through the same peer-selection process.

Sixty superintendents, comprising the total sample, were asked to respond to a two-part questionnaire: a Career/Demographics Page and a 47-item questionnaire composed of sections dealing with ambiguity tolerance, intuition, and job satisfaction. All 60 superintendents responded to the questionnaire. Two hypotheses were written to operationalize the purposes of the study. The analyses of the data were reported in Chapter IV.

Demographic data

Two types of demographic data were sought for analysis in the study: data on career mobility and job satisfaction.

The Career/Demographics Page was used to obtain information relative to the career advancement patterns of both samples. It was noted that a much larger percentage of the "exemplary" sample served in mid- to larger-sized school districts, by Iowa standards, than did the members of the "other" sample. One could speculate that the size of district in which a person serves affects the likelihood that s/he is thought to be an

"exemplary" superintendent by peers. Previous system size, in fact, is usually a consideration in selecting candidates for filling vacant administrative positions. Clearly, a superintendent appeared to have to have been serving a district with a student population of at least 600 to be labeled "exemplary" by peers in this study.

According to the definition of career mobility established in Chapter I, more of the "exemplary" superintendents were shown to be upwardly mobile than "other" superintendents. Based on the studies by Harlow, O'Reilly, Bretton, and Roberts, this investigator had contended that members of the "exemplary" sample would be somewhat more mobile than members of the "other" sample.

Two other pieces of data regarding career mobility appear to conflict. The members of the "exemplary" sample changed administrative positions an average of 2.83 times in their careers, while members of the "other" sample averaged only 2.40 changes. When comparing the average number of years of service in the current position between the two sample groups, it was noted that the average for the "exemplary" sample was 12.4 years, but only 11.3 years for the "other" sample. It seems the "exemplaries" made slightly more position changes during their careers but had reached a point of lesser mobility than the "others" in their current positions. It is speculated that this relative permanence might be related to many factors: the meeting of a career goal in terms of district size, chronological age, years of career experience, and feelings of job satisfaction.

Two questions measured the respondents' self-expressions of job satisfaction. As suspected, the "exemplary" sample showed a slightly higher overall job satisfaction mean score, indicating a feeling somewhat stronger than "moderately agreeing" that these individuals were pleased with their career choice. Although lower, the mean score of the "other" sample was also quite high, averaging midway between "slightly" and "moderately agreeing."

This evidence seems to suggest further that the "exemplary" sample wasn't peer-selected by chance. They likely feel positively about their careers, and this confidence, perhaps, can be observed by peers.

Likewise, as their career paths have taken them to somewhat larger districts than the "others," the "exemplaries" probably feel somewhat more reinforced in their career choice because of this apparent success.

Hypothesis Number One

Analysis of the responses to the items dealing with ambiguity tolerance showed no statistically significant difference in mean scores between the "exemplary" and "other" samples. From these data, it is speculated that tolerance for ambiguity is not a quality that distinguished the "exemplary" superintendents from the "other" superintendents in this study. It can only be speculated, based on the mean scores, that both samples of superintendents are slightly more tolerant of ambiguity than the statistical midpoint.

Hypothesis Number Two

The hypothesis concerning the use of intuition in decision-making was unable to be rejected based on mean responses to two sets of questions within the first section (items 1-27) of the instrument.

Considering the first set of questions, items 1-15, neither right brain nor integrated brain mean scores was significantly different when sample groups were compared.

It can be speculated that all of the superintendents in the sample had a nearly equal place for intuition in their decision-making, based on the fact that both samples expressed at least some preference for handling situations with an integrated style. "Exemplary" superintendents chose right brain and integrated brain styles slightly more frequently than "other" superintendents.

In the second set of questions, respondents were asked to choose either an intuitive or thinking decision-making mode. Descriptive statistics showed the total sample, and the members of the individual samples, to favor a thinking approach to an intuitive approach by nearly a two-to-one ratio. Comparing mean scores, the "other" sample demonstrated a slightly higher intuitive score than the "exemplary" sample.

Based on the data concerning intuition, it is suggested that superintendents may likely choose the analytical, left brain approach to decision-making if forced to choose exclusively between that approach and an intuitive style, but that all of the members of the sample would likely consider integrating intuitive and analytical processes if allowed to

combine them. While this may seem to be a "middle-of-the-road" speculation, it seems merited after considering the data.

As Engel suggested (22), we do seem to have a hard time researching the qualities of the "exemplary" superintendent conclusively. In terms of the participants in this study, it can be speculated that there may be a relationship between career mobility and job satisfaction as characteristics of the "exemplary" superintendent. No conclusions can be reached concerning the likelihood that ambiguity tolerance or an intuitive or integrated decision-making style are more characteristic of a sample of peer-selected "exemplary" superintendents than a sample of "others." It can reasonably be suggested, however, that a fairly high tolerance for ambiguity and an inclination to use an integrated style of decision-making were typical of the total sample of superintendents studied.

Based on the demographic data collected, it is posited that the size of a superintendent's district, the number of career moves made as an administrator, and tenure in the current position may be significant factors in determining if peers consider a superintendent "exemplary."

Limitations

Three factors were viewed as limitations to the study. First of all, the peer-selection process was used in the absence of a more scientifically established method of identifying "exemplary" superintendents. Use of such a process duplicated that used in similar recent Iowa State University studies of "exemplary" superintendents. The process was based solely on the perceptions superintendents had of the overall administrative effectiveness of their peers. As years pass and

groups of superintendents change, so do also their perceptions, and consequently, those superintendents identified as "exemplary." As mentioned earlier in this chapter, a superintendent's current district size may have weighed disproportionately heavy in this regard.

A second limiting factor was that part of the questionnaire derived from the Mobius Psi-Q instrument. According to the literature, this instrument was not tested with any specific group other than the readers of Omni Magazine, nor were any repeat administrations made to establish reliability. The Mobius Psi-Q test yielded findings concerning brain dominance in decision-making that could not be substantiated at the .05 level of significance. Literature about the test stated that only a .0625 level of significance was achieved in the single test administration referred to above.

Finally, only two of the 47 items in the questionnaire dealt with job satisfaction. Such a limited procedure was used because job satisfaction was considered a minor aspect of the study. If a more in-depth relationship between job satisfaction and other qualities of administrators is to be the focus of subsequent studies, a better research instrument should be used.

Recommendations for Further Study

The results of this study suggest several possible areas for further study. It was concluded by Erion that further research should be directed toward establishing the validity of the peer-selection process. This writer concurs, especially in light of potential relationships between an "exemplary" designation and size of district, number of position changes,

and length of tenure in one's current position. It may very well be that future researchers can discover a better way of identifying the truly "exemplary" superintendent.

This writer also suggests that further research be devoted to personal and "personality" qualities that may distinguish the "exemplary" superintendent from the "other." Such personality qualities might include positiveness, empathy, and self-concept. Other characteristics could include participation and visibility in professional organizations; the attainment of advanced degrees, especially the doctorate; and the ability to establish a support system and meaningful contacts among peers.

Further studies might investigate a correlation between career mobility and job satisfaction in the superintendency. Another prospective study might compare public school superintendents with private sector executives concerning tolerance for ambiguity and an integrated or intuitive decision-making style.

Concluding Statement

The leadership role of the public school superintendent has been well-established in the past and will be ever more crucial as issues such as declining enrollment, diminishing resources, and religious/political activism color the Iowa public school scene. It remains the challenge of professional in-service and university preparation programs to assess and update the qualities and skills of the prospective and experienced superintendent to a level at which the administrator can serve the needs of the school district well. The function of further research should be

to provide valid data for the formulation of the pre-service and in-service programs mentioned above.

The writer holds the personal opinion, based on the literature cited, that differences are likely to exist between "exemplary" readers and "others." By examining some of the limitations noted in this study in undertaking one of the writer's recommendations for further research, future researchers may uncover those differences.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adorno, T. W., Frenkel-Brunswik, E., Levinson, D. J., and Sanford, R. N. <u>The Authoritarian Personality</u>. New York, New York: Harper, 1950.
- 2. Agnew, Neil McK, and Brown, John L. "Executive Judgment: The Intuitive/Rational Ratio." <u>Personnel</u> 62(1985):48-54.
- 3. Agor, Weston H. "The Logic of Intuition: How Top Executives Make Important Decisions." Organizational Dynamics 14(1986):5-18.
- 4. Agor, Weston H. "Intuition as a Brain Skill in Management." <u>Public Personnel Management 14(1985):15-24.</u>
- 5. Agor, Weston. "Intuition in School Management." The School Administrator 41(1984):12-14.
- 6. Agor, Weston. <u>Intuitive Management</u>. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice Hall, 1984.
- 7. Agor, Weston H. "Tomorrow's Intuitive Leaders." The Futurist 17(1983):49-53.
- 8. Agor, Weston H. "Using Intuition in Public Management." <u>Public Management</u> 65(1983):2-6.
- 9. Bastick, Tony. <u>Intuition: How We Think and Act</u>. Chicester: John Wiley and Sons, 1982.
- 10. Beyth-Marom, Ruth, and Dekel, Shlomith. An Elementary Approach to Thinking Under Uncertainty. Hillsdale, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum, Associates, 1985.
- 11. Blackburn, Harold. "How to Locate Leadership: Put Down Your Buckets!" NASSP Bulletin 68(1984):140-42.
- 12. Blanchard, Kenneth, Zigarmi, Patricia, and Zigarmi, Drea. <u>Leadership</u> and the One Minute Manager. New York, New York: William Morrow and Company, 1985.
- 13. Budner, Stanley J. "Intolerance of Ambiguity and Need for Closure." Psychological Reports 43(1978):638.
- 14. Budner, Stanley J. "Intolerance of Ambiguity as a Personality Variable." <u>Journal of Personality</u> 30(1962):29-50.
- 15. Buros, Oscar Krisen. Mental Measurements Yearbook. Highland Park, New Jersey: The Gryphon Press, 1978.

- 16. Cuban, Larry. "Conflict and Leadership in the Superintendency." Phi Delta Kappan 67(1985):28-30.
- 17. Cunningham, Luverne L. "Leaders and Leadership: 1985 and Beyond." Phi Delta Kappan 67(1985):17-20.
- 18. DeBruyn, Robert L. "The Unquestionable Role of Instinct." The Master Teacher 16, No. 34(1985):34.
- 19. Denhardt, Robert B. "The Intuitive Dimension of Management Experience." <u>Midwest Review of Public Administration</u> 10(1976):249-50.
- 20. Drucker, Peter. "The Effective Administrator." NASSP Bulletin 48(1964):291.
- 21. Eisenhauer, John E., Willower, Donald J., and Licata, Joseph W.
 "Role Conflict, Role Ambiguity, and School Principal's Job
 Robustness." The Journal of Experimental Education 53(1984):86-90.
- 22. Engel, Ross A. "Think You Know What Makes a Great Superintendent? Guess Again." The Executive Educator 7(1985):39-40.
- 23. English, H. B., and English, A. C. <u>A Comprehensive Dictionary of Psychological and Psychoanalytical Terms</u>. New York, New York: McKay, 1958.
- 24. Erion, Larry L. "Perceptions of the Leadership Behavior of Selected Iowa Superintendents." Ph.D. dissertation. Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa, 1986.
- 25. Feinberg, Mortimer R., and Levenstein, Aaron. "How Do You Know When to Rely on Your Intuition?" The Wall Street Journal, June 21, 1982, p. 16.
- 26. Feingold, S. Norman. "Management Quiz." <u>USA Weekend</u>, October 11-13, 1985, p. 23.
- 27. Fletcher, Janice K. "Antecedents of Conflict and Ambiguity in the School Superintendency." Ph.D. dissertation. VPI, Blacksburg, Virginia, 1978.
- 28. Forney, Janet. "Role Conflict and Ambiguity between Superintendent and Principal." Ph.D. dissertation. Penn State University, College Park, Pennsylvania, 1981.
- 29. Frenkel-Brunswik, E. "Intolerance of Ambiguity as an Emotional and Perceptual Personality Variable." <u>Journal of Personality</u> 18(1949):108-43.

- 30. Gahmberg, Henrik. "Underlying Values and Intuition in Strategic Decisions." <u>International Studies of Management and Organization</u> 13(1983):132-43.
- 31. Haggard, David A. "Linkage of Decision-making, Buffering, and Styles of Thinking in Exemplary Superintendents." Ph.D. dissertation. Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa, 1984.
- 32. Harlow, Dorothy N. "Professional Employees Preference for Upward Mobility." Journal of Applied Psychology 57(1973):137-41.
- 33. Heller, Robert W. "Do You Have What it Takes to Stand Out from the Crowd?" The Executive Educator 7(1985):18-19.
- 34. Hersey, Paul W. "Selecting and Developing Educational Leaders: A Search for Excellence." NASSP Bulletin 69(1986):1-2.
- 35. Hersey, Paul W. The Situational Leader. New York, New York: Warner Books, 1984.
- 36. Hersey, Paul W. "The NASSP Assessment Center Develops Leadership Talent." Educational Leadership 39(1982):370-71.
- 37. Hirsh, Sandra Krebs. <u>Using the Myers-Briggs Type Indicator in Organizations</u>. Palo Alto California: Consulting Psychologists Press, Inc., 1985.
- 38. Hostetler, Karl. "Ethics and Power: Implications for the Principal's Leadership." NASSP Bulletin 70(1986):31-36.
- 39. Isaack, Thomas S. "Intuition: A Treasury of Knowledge." <u>Personnel</u> Administrator 25(1980):74-78.
- 40. Jones, Ron, and Godfrey, Gerald E. "Increasing One's Potential to Become an Administrator." NASSP Bulletin 69(1986):20-22.
- 41. Kirton, M. J. "A Reanalysis of Two Scales of Tolerance of Ambiguity." <u>Journal of Personality Assessment</u> 45(1949):407-14.
- 42. Kottkamp, Robert B., and Mansfield, John R. "Role Conflict, Role Ambiguity, Powerlessness and Burnout among High School Supervisors."

 Journal of Research and Development in Education 18(1985):29-38.
- 43. Landholm, Lou Ann J. "Center Helps One's Monitoring of Strengths, Weaknesses." NASSP Bulletin 69(1986):24-25.
- 44. Lasden, Martin. "Intuition: The Voice of Success." Computer Decisions 17(1985):98-104.

- 45. Lee, C. W. "Ambiguity Tolerance and General Incongruity Adaptation Level as Organizational Variables." Ph.D. dissertation. University of Southern California, Los Angeles, California, 1974.
- 46. Lepard, David H. "The Essential Ingredients of a Plan." NASSP Bulletin 69(1986):6-9.
- 47. MacDonald, A. P., Jr. "Revised Scale for Ambiguity Tolerance: Reliability and Validity." Psychological Reports 26(1970):791-98.
- 48. Marx, Jean L. "The Two Sides of the Brain." Science 220(1983):488-90.
- 49. McCall, Douglas S. "Twelve Skill Dimensions: Professional Benefits." NASSP Bulletin 69(1986):32-33.
- 50. McGinnis, Michael A. "The Key to Strategic Planning: Integrating Analysis and Intuition." Sloan Management Review 26(1984):45-52.
- 51. Melvin, Charles. "Risk-taking Orientation, Tolerance of Ambiguity, and the Leader Behavior of School Principals." Ph.D. dissertation. University of Wisconsin, Madison, Wisconsin, 1979.
- 52. Mostul, Burl. "Relationship of Ambiguity Tolerance to Trait Anxiety, Self-esteem, Purpose in Life, and Religious Orientation." Ph.D. dissertation. California School of Professional Psychology, San Francisco, California, 1980.
- 53. Muston, Ray A. "Role Ambiguity in Institutional Marketing and Enrollment Management." Research in Higher Education 22(1985):371-79.
- 54. Myers, Isabel Briggs. The Myers-Briggs Type Indicator: 1962 Manual. Palo Alto, California: Consulting Psychologists Press, 1962.
- 55. Naisbitt, John. <u>Megatrends</u>. New York, New York: Warner Books, 1982.
- 56. National Commission on Excellence in Education. A Nation at Risk.

 The Imperative for Educational Reform. Washington, D.C.: U.S.

 Government Printing Office, 1983.
- 57. National School Public Relations Association. "Tips on Leadership." Education, USA, February 10, 1986, p. 184.
- 58. National School Public Relations Association. "Left-Brain Leaders." Education, USA, March 25, 1985, p. 234.
- 59. National School Public Relations Association. "A Sure Way to Select Principals." Education, USA, January 23, 1984, p. 165.

- 60. National School Public Relations Association. "From Master Teacher to Master Principal." <u>Education</u>, <u>USA</u>, November 14, 1983, p. 84.
- 61. Noddings, Nel, and Shore, Paul J. Awakening the Inner Eye:

 Intuition and Education. New York, New York: Teacher's College
 Press, 1984.
- 62. O'Reilly, Charles A., III, Bretton, Gene E., and Roberts, Karlene H. "Professional Employees Preference for Upward Mobility: An Extension." Journal of Vocational Behavior 5(1974):139-45.
- 63. Peters, Thomas J., and Waterman, Robert H., Jr. <u>In Search of Excellence</u>. New York, New York: Harper and Row, 1982.
- 64. Pitavino, M. "Interpersonal Space, Locus of Control, Tolerance for Ambiguity." Ph.D. dissertation. University of Wyoming, Laramie, Wyoming, 1976.
- 65. Presthus, R. The Organizational Society: An Analysis and a Theory. New York, New York: Knopf, 1962.
- 66. Raphael, D., Moss, S., and Cross, W. "Budner's Intolerance of Ambiguity: A Note Concerning Intelligence." Psychological Reports 43(1978):624-26.
- 67. Raudsepp, Eugene. "Hunches: Trusting Your Intuition." The Des Moines Register, October 28, 1982, p. 46.
- 68. Roberds-Baxter, Sharon. "Principals Can Increase Leadership Effectiveness by Knowing Staff Personalities." NASSP Bulletin 70(1986):7-15.
- 69. Rushlau, Perry Joseph, Jr. "An Experimental Study of Ambiguity Tolerance as a Trait." Ph.D. dissertation. University of Missouri, Columbia, Missouri, 1957.
- 70. Saunders, Robert L., Phillips, Ray C., and Johnson, Harold T. A Theory of Educational Leadership. Columbus, Ohio: Charles E. Merrill, Inc., 1966.
- 71. Schwartz, Stephan A., and DeMattei, Rand. "Psi-Ql Report." Omni Magazine 5(1982):160-61.
- 72. Sergiovanni, Thomas J. "Leadership and Excellence in Schooling." Educational Leadership 41(1984):4-13.
- 73. Sergiovanni, Thomas J. "Ten Principles of Quality Leadership." Educational Leadership 39(1982):330-36.

- 74. Shavit, Hana. "Personality Adjustment as a Function of Interaction between Locus of Evaluation and Tolerance of Ambiguity."

 Psychological Reports 37(1975):1204-06.
- 75. Sprecher, Laurence R. "Intuition, Anyone?" <u>Public Management</u> 65(1983):18.
- 76. Stevens, Clark A. "Perceptions and Expectations of the Leadership Behavior of Selected Superintendents and Their Administrative Teams in Five Midwestern States." Ph.D. dissertation. Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa, 1973.
- 77. Sudhalter, David C. <u>The Management Option</u>. New York, New York: Human Sciences Press, 1980.
- 78. Waterman, Albert D. <u>Educational Leadership</u>. New York, New York: Exposition Press, 1967.
- 79. Williams, Stanley W. School Administration: Leadership and Interaction. New York, New York: Irvington Publishers, 1983.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The participation of several people in this study was crucial.

Thanks are due to Dr. Norman Boyles, Dr. Clair Keller, and Dr. Robert

Thomas for their support and constructive suggestions as the project

unfolded. "Statistics Coach" Dr. Tony Netusil has contributed greatly to

the writer's understanding of research processes. As a friend and

colleague, he has substantially contributed to the writer's personal and

professional growth.

Very special thanks are due to Dr. Ross Engel, who has been friend, mentor, confidant, and advisor for these past ten years. The writer has benefited immeasurably from his wisdom, perception, and guidance.

Recognition is due, also, to the writer's wife Mary, daughter Christine, and sons Tim, Kevin, Nick, and Brian. Their level of confidence and expectation in the writer has helped to move this major professional goal to completion.

The Iowa State University Committee on the Use of Human Subjects reviewed this project's proposal on March 20, 1986. They concluded that the project provided proper safeguards to insure that the rights and welfare of the human subjects were properly protected and approved the study.

APPENDIX A. PILOT STUDY QUESTIONNAIRE

Administrator Scale

<u>Directions</u>: Please circle as your response the number in the scale at the left that indicates your degree of agreement or disagreement with each statement.

74

Strongly agree	Moderately agree	Slightly agree	Slightly die	Moderately disagree	Strongly did		
7	6	5	_	2			There is a right way and a wrong way to do almost everything.
7	-	5	_	2	_		Practically every problem has a solution.
7	6	5	3	2	1	3,	I have always felt that there is a clear solution between right and wrong.
7	6	5	3	2	1	4.	Nothing gets accomplished in this world unless you stick to some basic rules.
7	6	5	3	2	1	5.	If I were a doctor, I would prefer the uncertainties of a psychiatrist to the clear and definite work of someone like a surgeen or x-ray specialist.
7	6	5	3	2	1	6.	Vague and impressionistic pictures really have little appeal for me.
7	6	5	3	2	1	7.	Before an examination, I feel much less anxious if I know how many questions there will be.
7	6	5	3	2	1	8.	The best part of working a jigsaw puzzle is putting in that last piece.
7	6	5	3	2	1	9.	I don't like to work on a problem unless there is a possibility of coming out with a clearcut and unambiguous answer.
7	6	5	3	2	1	10.	I like to fool around with new ideas, even if they turn out later to be a total waste of time.
7	6	5	3	2	1	11.	Perfect balance is the essence of all good competition.
7	6	5	3	2	1	12.	As part of my future job plans, I want a promotion to some higher position at some point in the future.
7	6	5	3	2	1.	13.	At the present time I am well satisfied in my job.
7	6	5	3	2	1	14.	An expert who doesn't come up with a definite answer probably doesn't know very much.
7	6	5	3	2	1	15.	There is really no such thing as a problem that can't be solved.
7	6	5	3	2	1	16.	A good job is one where what is to be done and how it is to be done are always clear.
7	6	5	3	2	1	17.	In the long run it is possible to get more done by tackling small, simple problems rather than large complicated ones.
7	6	5	3	2	1	18.	What we are used to is always preferable to what is unfamiliar.
7	6	5	3	2	1	19.	A persone who leads an even, regular life in which few surprises or unexpected happenings arise, really has a lot to be grateful for.
7	6	5	3	2	1	20.	I like parties where I know most of the people more than ones where all or most of the people are complete strangers.
7	6	5	3	2	1	21.	I have been satisfied with my choice of career as a school administrator.

APPENDIX B. PILOT STUDY RESULTS

Statistical	Summary	of I	Pilot	Study

Item				Level of significance		Expected sign of
number	A,B (X)	t-value	df	Two-tailed	One-tailed	t-value ^l
•	4 000 5 500				10	
1	4.909,5.500	-1.5777	21	.20	.10	negative
2	6.273,5.917	.5820	21	none	none	negative
3	5.636,4.667	1.3825	21	. 2 0	.10	negative
4 5	5.273,6.000	-1.2007	21	none	none	negative
	3.273,2.273	1.2330	20	none	none	positive
6 7	4.091,5.667	-2.3639	21	.05	.025*	negative
	3.336,3.833	6506	21	none	none	negative
8	5.091,5.583	7103	21	none	none	negative
9	4.636,4.000	.7980	21	none	none	negative
10	5.273,6.000	-1.2591	21	none	none	positive
11	3.364,4.818	-1.7948	20	.10	•05*	negative
12	5.363,4.833	.6847	21	none	none	positive
13	6.455,6.583	4118	21	none	none	positive
14	3.455,2.333	1.7892	21	.10	.05**	negative
15	4.818,3.833	1.1194	21	none	none	negative
16	3.545,3.583	0507	21	none	none	negative
17	3.455,4.917	-2.3251	21	•05	.025*	negative
18	2.818,5.166	-4.0178	21	.001	.0005*	negative
19	2.727,4.500	-2.4884	21	.05	.025*	negative
20	4.636,5.166	8956	21	none	none	negative
21	6.636,6.833	-1.0546	21	none	none	positive
	•					_

Expectations based on the "exemplary/non-exemplary" status of the individuals assigned to groups A and B, as well as the way in which authors of the scales used intended the questions to be answered by those possessing ambiguity tolerance.

^{*}Significant at at least the .05 level (one-tailed test) in the expected direction.

^{**}Significant at at least the .05 level (one-tailed test) in the opposite direction expected.

APPENDIX C. CAREER/DEMOGRAPHICS PAGE

		return with ed questionna	ire						
			Career/Demograph	nics Page					
ı.	Please describe the characteristics of all administrative positions you have held <u>and</u> are now holding:								
	A.	Current Posi	tion						
		Title of Position	Number of Years Position Held	Number of Students	Number of all Staff Members				
									
	в.		Administrative Positing most recent to le		ical order,				
		Title of Position	Number of Years Position Held	Number of Students	Number of all Staff Members				
									

APPENDIX D. QUESTIONNAIRE: QUALITIES OF IOWA SCHOOL SUPERINTENDENTS

ь.		MATE
М	FANE	NOTF:

Copyrighted materials in this document have not been filmed at the request of the author. They are available for consultation, however, in the author's university library.

These consist of pages:

80-83			
		·····	
			

University
Microfilms
International

300 N. ZEEB RD., ANN ARBOR, MI 48106 (313) 761-4700

APPENDIX E. COVER LETTER

<u>iowa state</u> University College of Education Educational Administration N229 Quadrangle Ames, Iowa 50011

Telephone 515-294-5450

March 15, 1986

Dear

Please recall an area Superintendent's meeting some time ago during which many of you were asked to suggest the names of exemplary Superintendents in your area. Working with my major professor, Dr. Ross Engel of Iowa State University, I have selected sixty Superintendents from across the state who were similarly nominated to participate in my doctoral study.

In this study, which continues a series of I.S.U. studies of public school Superintendents in Iowa, I hypothesize about the responses you and others will make to a questionnaire concerning ambiguity tolerance, intuition, career mobility, and job satisfaction. Through the study I hope to propose improvements in identification of administrative aptitude and administrator preparation programs.

Will you please take a few minutes of your valuable time to complete the questionnaire I've enclosed and return it to me in the envelope provided? The instrument is numbered to account for returns, but all results will be kept strictly confidential and treated anonymously.

I will certainly appreciate your help with this project!

Sincerely yours,

Dr. Ross Engel College of Education N229 Quadrangle Iowa State University

Ames, IA 50011

Patrick Durow, Principal Atlantic High School, I.S.U. Graduate Student

Patrick Auron

APPENDIX F. FIRST FOLLOW-UP LETTER

Telephone 515-294-5450

April 18, 1986

About three weeks ago I mailed you an invitation to help me with a research project I am conducting through Iowa State University. This research examines some of the qualities of superintendents in our state of Iowa. I asked you to help me by completing a questionnaire and a short career demographics sheet.

Thus far I have not received your response. As my sample is relatively small, the participation of each superintendent is very important to the success of this project. Would you please take 10-15 minutes of your time to complete these instruments and return them to me?

I know you are probably beseiged with requests for pieces of your time at this very busy part of the year, and I hope that you can spare just the few minutes that it will take to complete these instruments. If for some reason you did not receive the initial packet, please call me collect at (712) 243-5358 (Atlantic H.S.) or (712) 243-1425 (home) and I will mail one right out to you.

Thanks for your consideration and help!

Sincerely yours,

Patrick Durow

Principal, Atlantic H.S. I.S.U. Graduate Student

Dr. Ross Engel College of Education N229 Quadrangle Iowa State University

Ames, IA 50011

Rose a Engl

APPENDIX G. SECOND FOLLOW-UP LETTER

503 E. 14th St. Atlantic, IA 50022 April 29, 1986

:

Dear

Almost four weeks ago, I tried to reach you concerning a project that I am working on with Dr. Ross Engel of Iowa State University. Our project, my doctoral dissertation study, seeks to measure a few of the characteristics of a small group of exemplary superintendents in our state. Through a "reputational survey" conducted in each AEA area this past year, your name was identified as a member of the sample and a prospective participant.

Because my sample is relatively small, I need a 100% response from you, the participants. I am hopeful that you simply set the materials in my original mailing aside in the rush of springtime activties. Hopeful am I also that you will take the ten minutes or so necessary to complete the materials that are enclosed with this letter. Will you please assist me with this project?

A stamped envelope for the return of the two instruments is enclosed for your use. Thank you for considering my need and taking your valuable time to help!

Sincerely yours,

Patrick Durow

I.S.U. Graduate Student

Principal, Atlantic High School

africh Auron